NO. 44268-0-11 

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, 

DIVISION II 

STATE OF WASHINGTON, 

Respondent, 

vs. 

ROY EUGENE MILLER, 

Petitioner. 

PETITION FOR REVIEW 

1402 Broadway 
Suite 103 
Longview, W A 98632 
(360) 423-3084 

FILED IN COA ON JULY 16 2014 
' 

John A. Hays, No. 16654 
Attorney for Appellant 

w: n IL re fO) 
JUL 1 7 2014 

CL£RK OF THE SUPRE~E CNQURT 
~ STA1EOFWASHING10 C'.,RF

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Roy Eugene Miller asks this court to accept review of the decision 

designated in Part B of this motion. 

B. DECISION 

Petitioner seeks review of each and every part of the unpublished 

decision of the Court of Appeals affirming the Cowlitz County Superior 

Court judgment and sentence. A copy of the Court of Appeals decision is 

attached along with a copy of the order denying Defendant's Motion to 

Publish. 

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

In a case in which the state has charged the defendant with second 
degree assault with a firearm, does a trial court deny that defendant a fair 
trial under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 3, and United States 
Constitution, Fourteenth Amendment, if it refuses to allow the defense 
to elicit the fact that the defendant feared the complaining witness 
because she was an active drug dealer? 

D. STATEMENTOFTHECASE 

The defendant, Roy Eugene Miller has lived for many years in a house 

at 361 South 81h in Kalama, Washington, along with his five-year-old son 

Matthew, his older son Christopher and Christopher's girlfriend Nicole 

Reynolds. RP 41-43,48-50,231-239. Rachel Robinson, the defendant's ex-

wife and the mother ofMatthew, had also lived in the house until the summer 

of 2011 when she and the defendant separated. !d. She then moved out, 

leaving Matthew in the defendant's custody. /d. However, while she had 
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moved out she returned most days to see Matthew and help tend to Matthew 

although she would occasionally refrain from visiting if she and the defendant 

had been in an argument. RP 51-52. 

Sometime around July 13, 2012, the defendant became aware that 

Matthew's mother Rachel was using drugs and dealing drugs with her friend 

Scott Tuitt. RP 16-21, 21-25, 28-29. Once the defendant found out this 

information he called and texted Rachel telling her what he had found out. 

ld. He also told her that she could not come over to his house and could not 

see Matthew until she got her drug issue resolved. RP 16-21, 21-25, 28-29, 

239-244. The next day, the defendant got a call from Scott Tuitt telling the 

defendant that he was coming over to speak with him. RP16-21, 21"25, 28" 

29. This caused the defendant a great deal of concern given his belief that 

Rachel and Scott Tuitt were dealing drugs together. ld. The defendant has 

a number of physical limitations including five herniated disks in his back 

that make it difficult for him to physically defend himself. RP 231"239. 

According to the defendant, at some point during the afternoon of July 

14th Scott Tuitt did come over to his house to talk with him. RP 253-255. 

The defendant was concerned enough about the situation that he armed 

himself with a hand gun, putting it in his belt in the small of his back. !d. 

During this conversation, which occurred in the house, the defendant looked 

at his surveillance video and saw Rachel Robinson enter his back yard in 
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spite of his repeated orders that she stay away from his house and in spite of 

his no trespassing signs. RP 239-244. In fact, Rachel had come to the 

property armed with a knife to use against the defendant if necessary. RP 77-

84. Upon seeing Rachel the defendant left the house and walked out to the 

end of the back yard in the garden area where Rachel stood picking berries. 

RP 239-244. She had a knife in her hand. !d. The defendant then confronted 

Rachel. RP 57-60, 239-244. 

According to Rachel, when the defendant came out of the house he was 

carrying a pipe. RP 57-60. According to the defendant he came out of the 

house carrying one pipe, set it down, and then picked up another pipe when 

he saw that Rachel was armed with a knife. RP 239-244. Regardless of the 

origin of the pipe, both parties agreed that when the defendant confronted 

Rachel he had a pipe in his hands. RP 57-60, 239-244. As the defendant 

walked up to Rachel he reminded her that he had forbid her from coming 

onto his property and ordered her to leave. RP 239-244. She refused. RP 57-

60. She then opened the blade on the knife and slashed at the defendant. Jd. 

She claimed she took this action because she believed the defendant was 

going to hit her with the pipe, although she did not claim that he had tried to 

do so up to that point. !d. 

Regardless of Rachel's motivation, once she slashed the defendant's arm 

with the knife the defendant did hit her a number of times with the pipe. RP 
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59-61. The first blow was to her hand. !d. The second was to her shoulder, 

and the third was to her thigh. !d. According to the defendant, he 

administered each blow in a controlled manner in an attempt to get her to 

drop the knife. RP 245-250. According to Rachel, the last blow with the 

pipe knocked her to the ground, after which the defendant stomped on her 

chest. RP 61-62. The defendant denied this conduct. RP 269. Rather, 

according to the defendant, she turned and fell over her own feet. !d. 

According to Rachel the defendant then took out his pistol and threatened to 

kill her with it. RP 61-62. According to the defendant the pistol fell from 

behind his back and he merely picked it up and put it back in his belt and in 

no way threatened Rachel with it. RP 251-255. 

At about this time a Kalama Police Officer arrived on the scene, having 

been summoned by a neighbor who had heard the dispute along with a male 

voice saying "Die Bitch." RP 43-47. This officer approached the defendant 

and asked if the defendant had any weapons on him. RP 133-138. The 

defendant stated that he had a gun and a knife. !d. The officer then placed 

the defendant in handcuffs for officer safety and took the defendant's pistol, 

as well as a switchblade knife and a "leather man" tool the defendant had on 

his person. !d. The defendant later stated that he did not know that it was 

illegal to possess the switchblade. RP 273. A second officer arrived a short 

time later and the two officers then took statements from the defendant and 
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Rachel. RP 145-149, 178-184. Afterward they arrested the defendant and 

had Matthew leave with Rachel with the defendant's permission. RP 260. 

By information filed on July 16,2012, and amended on November 13, 

2012, the Cowlitz County Prosecutor charged the defendant with one count 

of second degree assault with a deadly weapon against Rachel Robinson, and 

one count of possession of a dangerous weapon. CP 3-4, 8-9. The first count 

alleged that the deadly weapon was "a pipe and/or pistol" and that during the 

commission of the offense the defendant was armed with "a deadly weapon, 

to wit: a pipe" and that during the commission of the offense the defendant 

was also armed with "a firearm, to wit: a pistol.'' /d. The case later came on 

for trial before a jury with the state calling three witnesses: Rachel Robinson 

and the two police officers who had responded to the defendants house. RP 

41, 48, 124, 177. The defense then called three witnesses: the defendant's 

adult son Christopher, Christopher's girlfriend Nicole Reynolds and the 

defendant. RP 199, 212, 23 0. The state then recalled one of the officers for 

brief rebuttal. RP 275. 

Just prior to picking the jury in this case the state moved in limine to 

exclude the defendant from eliciting any evidence, either through its own 

witnesses or through cross-examination of the state's witnesses, that either 

Rachel Robinson or Scott Tuitt had either been using drugs or selling drugs, 

or that these facts caused the defendant any concern for his safety. RP 16-30. 
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Based upon the court's ruling, the defense did not present any of this 

evidence, nor argue from it before the jury during closing. RP l6w30, 327w 

339. 

Following the close of evidence in this case the court instructed the jury 

with neither party making any objections or taking exception to any of the 

instructions. RP 219w225, 226w227, 285~304; CP 53-82. The parties then 

presented closing argument with neither party making any objections to the 

other party's statements to the jury. RP 304~327, 329-339, 339w350. At this 

point the court released the jury for the day and instructed them to return at 

8:30 the next morning to begin deliberations. RP 356. Just a little after noon 

the next day the jury finished its deliberations and returned verdicts of guilty 

on both counts. RP 358-361; CP 83-84. The jury also returned special 

verdicts that the defendant was armed with both a deadly weapon (the pipe) 

and a firearm during the commission of Count I, and a special verdict that the 

defendant committed Count I against a family member. CP 85-87. 

The court later sentenced the defendant to 54 months in prison on Count 

I. CP 94. This sentence reflected imposition of 6 months on a range of 3 to 

9 months, plus 36 months for the firearm enhancement and 12 months for the 

deadly weapon enhancement. CP 88, 89-102. The defendant filed timely 

notice of appeal following imposition of sentence. CP 106. 

By unpublished decision filed June 24, 2014, the Court of Appeals, 
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Division II affirmed the defendant's conviction. On July 15, 2014, the same 

court denied defendant's motion to publish. 

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

Under RAP 13.4(b)(3), this case presents a significant question of law 

under both Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 3, as wen as United States 

Constitution, Fourteenth Amendment. Specifically, this case presents this 

court with an opportunity to refine the body oflaw explaining what evidence 

is admissible in support of a claim of self defense. The following examines 

this issue. 

While due process does not guarantee every person a perfect trial, both 

Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 3, and United States Constitution, 

Fourteent11 Amendment do guarantee all defendants a fair trial. State v. 

Swenson, 62 Wn.2d 259,382 P.2d 614 (1963); Bruton v. United States, 391 

U.S. 123,20 L.Ed.2d476, 88 S.Ct. 1620 (1968). As part of this rightto a fair 

trial, a defendant charged with a crime has the right to present relevant, 

exculpatory evidence in his or her defense. State v. Hudlow, 99 Wn.2d 1, 659 

P.2d 514 (1983); Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. 284,93 S.Ct. 1038,35 

L.Ed.2d 297 (1973). 

For example, in State v. Ellis, 136 Wn.2d 498, 963 P.2d 843 (1998), a 

defendant charged with aggravated first degree murder sought and obtained 

discretionary review of a trial court order granting a state's motion to exclude 
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his three experts on diminished capacity. In granting the motion to exclude, 

the trial court noted that the defense had failed to meet all of the criteria for 

the admissibility of diminished capacity evidence set in the Court of Appeals 

decision in State v. Edmon, 28 Wn.App. 98,621 P.2d 1310 (1981). 

On review, the state argued that the trial court had not erred because the 

defense experts had failed to meet the Edmon criteria. In its decision on the 

issue, the Supreme Court initially agreed with the state's analysis. However, 

the court nonetheless reversed the trial court, fmding that regardless of the 

factors set out in Edmon, to maintain a diminished capacity defense, a 

defendant need only produce expert testimony demonstrating that the 

defendant suffers from a mental disorder, not amounting to insanity, and that 

the mental disorder impaired the defendant's ability to form the specific 

intent to commit the crime charged. The court then found that the state had 

failed to prove that the defendant's experts did not meet this standard. Thus, 

by granting the state's motion to exclude the defendant's experts on 

diminished capacity, the trial court had denied the defendant his due process 

right under Washington Constitution, Artic1e 1, § 3, and United States 

Constitution, Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments, to present relevant evidence 

supporting his defense. 

In the case at bar, the defense argues an equivalent denial of due process 

when the court granted the state's request to prevent the defense from 
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presenting any evidence that the defendant had just become aware that Rachel 

Robinson and Scott Tuitt were using drugs together, were dealing drugs 

together, that this was the reason that he had excluded Rachel Robinson from 

his property, that he felt threatened by Scott Tuitt and Rachel Robinson, and 

that this was why he had armed himself with a firearm. This evidence was 

critical in order to support the defendant's claims that he did not leave his 

home in order to confront Rachel Robinson with a firearm and was relevant 

to rebut Rachel Robinson's claims that the defendant pulled that firearm and 

threatened her with it. This evidence was also relevant and important to the 

defense in order to show the jury that the defendant had not arbitrarily 

excluded Rachel from access to their son. 

However, this evidence was relevant and admissible for a more 

fundamental reason. This reason was that in the case at bar the defendant 

endorsed a claim of self-defense. In order to properly raise the issue of self

defense or justified use of force in the State of Washington, the defendant 

needed to produce evidence supporting the claim that the defendant's conduct 

was done in self-defense. State v. Adams, 31 Wn.App. 393, 641 P.2d 1207 

(1982). Although this evidence did not need to raise to the level of sufficient 

evidence "necessary to create a reasonable doubt in the jurors' minds as to the 

existence of self-defense," there still needed to be relevant evidence on this 

issue. State v. Adams, 31 Wn.App. at395 (citing State v. Roberts, 88 Wn.2d 
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337,345-46, 562 P.2d 1259 (1977)). In fact, the court may only refuse an 

instruction on self-defense where no plausible evidence exists in support of 

the claim. !d. A defendant's claim alone of self-defense is sufficient to 

require instruction on the issue. State v. Bius, 23 Wn.App. 807, 808, 599 

P.2d 16 (1979). 

In determining whether or not "any" evidence exists to justify instructing 

on self-defense, the court must apply a "subjective" standard. State v. Adams, 

31 Wn.App. at 396. In other words, "the court must consider the evidence 

from the point of view of the defendant as conditions appeared to him at the 

time of the act, with his background and knowledge, and 'not by the 

condition as it might appear to the jury in the light of testimony before it.'" 

State v. Adams, 31 Wn.App. at 396 (quoting State v. Tyree, 143 Wash. 313, 

317,255 P. 382 (1927)). In Tyree, the Supreme Court states the proposition 

as follows: 

The appellants need not have been in actual danger of great bodily hann, 
but they were entitled to act on appearances; and if they believed in good 
faith and on reasonable grounds that they were in actual danger of great 
bodily harm, it afterwards might develop that they were mistaken as to 
the extent of the danger, if they acted as reasonably and ordinarily 
cautious and prudent men would have done under the circumstances as 
they appeared to them, they were justified in defending themselves. 

State v. Tyree, 143 Wash. at 317. 

The court also stated: 

[T]he amount of force which (appellant) had a right to use in resisting 
an attack upon him was not the amount of force which the jury might say 

PETITION FOR REVIEW- 13 



was reasonably necessary, but what under the circumstances appeared 
reasonably necessary to the appellant. 

State v. Tyree, 143 Wash. at 316. 

As this review of the law on self-defense explains, evidence addressing 

the defendant's subjective belief of danger and evidence addressing the 

objective reasonableness of that belief is relevant and admissible in order to 

aid the jury in evaluating these two questions. In fact, the existence of such 

evidence and effective argument from it is necessary in order to effectively 

make the claim of self defense. This is precisely why the trial court's ruling 

on the state's motions in limine in this case denied the defendant his right to 

a fair trial. 

By excluding the evidence of Scott Tuitt and Rachel Robinson's drug 

use and dealing, of the defendant's knowledge of it and the fear that this fact 

created, the court prevented the defendant from effectively arguing his 

defense in the same way as the court in Ellis prevented the defendant from 

presenting his claim of lack of intent by excluding the defendant's expert 

witnesses. Thus, in the same manner that the defendant was entitled to a new 

trial in Ellis, so the defendant in this case is entitled to a new trial. As a result 

this court should accept review, reverse the decision of the Court of Appeals, 

vacate the defendant's conviction and remand for a new trial. 
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F. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons set out in this motion, this court should accept review of 

this case and reverse the decision of the Court of Appeal.