RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Aug 08, 2014, 4:41 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

SUPREME COURT NO. 90495-2 C.O.A. No. 75993-6-II Cowlitz Co. Cause NO. 12-1-00766-4

# SUPREME COURT OF STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

ROY EUGENE MILLER,

Petitioner.

# **RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW**

SUSAN I. BAUR
Prosecuting Attorney
ERIC BENTSON/WSBA#38471
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
Attorney for Respondent

Office and P. O. Address: Hall of Justice 312 S. W. First Avenue Kelso, WA 98626 Telephone: 360/577-3080



#

III.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
IV.	THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW OF THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION
V.	CONCLUSION 12

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

	Page
Rules	
ER 402	11
RAP 13 4(b)	9 10 11 12

#### I. IDENTIFY OF RESPONDENT

The respondent is the State of Washington, represented by Eric H. Bentson, Deputy Prosecuting Attorney for Susan I. Baur, Cowlitz County Prosecuting Attorney.

#### II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals correctly decided this matter, holding that the trial court did not exclude evidence, but rather ruled that evidence presented would be limited to what was relevant to the issues in the case. The respondent respectfully requests this Court deny review of the June 24, 2014, Court of Appeals' opinion in *State v. Roy Eugene Miller*, No. 44268-0-II, affirming Miller's conviction.

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Roy Miller and Rachel Robinson were in a dating relationship and lived together at Miller's house for roughly seven years. RP at 49. They had a six-year-old son together named Matthew. RP at 49. Miller and Robinson's dating relationship ended about a year prior to November of 2012. RP at 49-50. Miller kicked Robinson out of the house at this time. RP at 50. Because there was no place for Robinson to go, Matthew stayed at Miller's house. RP at 50. There was no parenting plan between Miller and Robinson. RP at 50. Although Robinson no longer lived at the house, Miller would permit Robinson to come visit Matthew on a daily basis. RP

at 50-51. Robinson would go over to Miller's house and wake Matthew up to go to school. RP at 50. If Miller and Robinson did not argue after Matthew went to school, then Robinson would stay at the house and see Matthew after he got out of school. RP at 51. While Robinson had been living at Miller's house, she planted strawberry, raspberry, and blueberry bushes. RP at 51. After she moved out, she continued to take care of these plants. RP at 51. Whenever Robinson came to the house, she would use the back gate. RP at 51.

In the evening of July 13, 2012, Robinson was at Miller's house getting Matthew ready for bed. RP at 52. Robinson made plans with Miller to take Matthew to the Kalama Marina the next day. RP at 52. At the time, Miller agreed to let Robinson take Matthew. RP at 52. On the morning of July 14, 2012, Miller sent Robinson a text message telling her not to come over or she would leave in an ambulance. RP at 53. It was not uncommon for Miller to text Robinson telling her not to come over, but then, if she came over anyway, for Miller not to discuss the text with her. RP at 53-54.

In the late afternoon of July 14, 2012, Robinson went to Miller's house. RP at 53. Although she knew Miller was angry with her, Robinson was undeterred from going to the house because she wanted to follow through on her plans to take Matthew to the marina. RP at 54.

Robinson arrived at Miller's house and, because the gate was locked, entered the backyard by crawling under the fence. RP at 54-55. It was not unusual for this gate to be locked, or for Robinson to crawl underneath it to enter the backyard. RP at 55. In her hands, Robinson carried a knife and a cellular phone. RP at 55. Robinson brought the knife for her protection. RP at 56.

Once she was in the backyard, Robinson began picking blueberries off the blueberry bush. RP at 57. Robinson had her phone in one hand and her knife in the other. RP at 58. It was normal for Robinson to come over and pick blueberries while she waited for Matthew to come out of the house. RP at 58. Usually, Matthew would come out and the two of them would pick blueberries together. RP at 58. Robinson hoped Matthew would come out on his own so that she would not have to engage in a conversation with Miller. RP at 58-59.

Miller had security cameras on his property, which allowed him to see the back gate. RP at 58. Miller came out of the house holding a metal pipe. RP at 59, 185. Miller ran toward the strawberry and raspberry bushes nearby and asked Robinson, "[Are you] ready to die today, bitch?" RP at 59. Miller jumped down in front of Robinson holding the pipe as if he was about to hit Robinson. RP at 59.

Robinson told Miller she was just there to see Matthew and asked Miller why he was so angry with her. RP at 59. Miller told Robinson to leave. RP at 59. Robinson told Miller, "Well, I'm here to get Matthew, because we made arrangements for me to come pick him up." RP at 59. Miller then acted as if he was about to swing the pipe. RP at 59. Robinson opened the knife and cut Miller's arm. RP at 59. Miller hit Robinson in the hand with the pipe, shattering Robinson's phone. RP at 60. Miller hit Robinson again with the pipe, this time in the left hip. RP at 60. Robinson dropped the knife. RP at 61. Robinson backed away from Miller. RP at 61. Miller then struck her for the third time with the pipe—this time, across the shoulder blade—knocking her to the ground. RP at 61.

Miller stood over Robinson, pulled out a handgun, pointed it at her, and told her, "I should just finish you off now." RP at 62. Miller told Robinson, "No, I'm gonna make you deal with what you did." RP at 62. After saying this, Miller then put the gun back into his pants. RP at 62. Miller then stomped on Robinson's rib cage. RP at 62.

Andrew Elliot lived on the property bordering Miller's. RP at 41. Elliot had lived on this property for a little over seven years. RP at 42. Elliot was aware that Miller and Robinson had lived at Miller's house. RP

at 42. He would often see Robinson in the backyard playing with her son.

RP at 43.

On the afternoon of July 14, 2012. Elliot was replacing a pump to a pond in his front yard. RP at 43. While Elliot was checking on his pond, he heard yelling coming from Miller's yard. RP at 45. Although it was not uncommon to hear yelling coming from Miller's residence, this argument was more heated and intense than usual. RP at 45. Elliot could hear Miller and Robinson arguing. RP at 46. Elliot heard Miller order Robinson to get off his lot, and Robinson respond by asking, "Why can't I see Matthew?" RP at 46. Elliot heard what sounded like a "hitting noise" three times. RP at 46. Then immediately after heard Miller say, "Die, bitch." RP at 46. At this point, Elliot called 911. RP at 46.

The Kalama police responded to this call. RP at 128-29. When Officer Jeff Skeie of the Kalama Police Department arrived at Miller's house, he was directed by an occupant of the house to the backyard. RP at 130-31. After Officer Skeie entered the backyard he observed Robinson laying on the ground with Miller standing "[r]ight on top of her" and "looking down at her." RP at 131. Officer Skeie observed Robinson crying with blood on her face. RP at 132. Officer Skeie asked Robinson

Although Elliot identified the voices as being male and female, rather than Miller and Robinson, the timing of the argument and the fact that he heard that male asking about "Matthew" made it obvious at trial that this argument was between Miller and Robinson. RP at 45.

why she was laying on the ground. RP at 132. Miller told Officer Skeie, "Because I put her there." RP at 133.

Officer Shele observed that Miller was "very angry, very agitated, [and] just really worked up." RP at 133. Miller told Officer Skele that Robinson had been trespassing on his property. RP at 133. Officer Skele asked Miller if he had any guns or knives on him. RP at 133. Miller then reached for a knife. RP at 133. Officer Skele removed this knife, as well as two other knives fond on Miller. RP at 134. The third knife Officer Skele removed was a switchblade. RP at 134, 135. While Officer Skele was removing the knives. Miller turned his body. RP at 134. Officer Skele observed that Miller had a gun in the waistband of his pants. RP at 134. Officer Skele removed the gun from Miller. RP at 138. The gun was a .9 millimeter, semi-automatic pistol that was fully loaded. RP at 138.

Officer Skeie handcuffed Miller. RP at 142. Miller showed Officer Skeie a cut he had on his left arm. RP at 142. Officer Skeie observed Robinson on the ground in pain. RP at 145. He immediately noticed that Robinson had blood on her face and right knee. RP at 146. Robinson's knee had scrape marks and rough areas consistent with falling on rocks. RP at 159. Officer Skeie observed that the ground in this area

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Officer Skeic referred to this knife both as a switchblade and a spring blade knife. RP at 135.

was "rocky dirt" or gravel. RP at 150-160. Robinson stood up, however due to pain she had difficulty walking and sat back down on the ground. RP at 148. In the area of the blueberry bush Officer Skeie recovered the metal pipe. RP at 149. Officer Skeie observed that Robinson had a long thin cut, elongated redness, and "puffiness" on her left thigh. RP at 157. Officer Skeie observed that Robinson's cell phone was shattered. RP at 157-58. Officer Skeie observed that Robinson's hand was swollen and cut. RP at 158. On Robinson's shoulder Officer Skeie observed a "big long, red pattern" with a "deeper white injury" in the center that looked like it was beginning to "welt up." RP at 160.

Sergeant ("Sgt") Parker of the Kalama Police Department also responded to the 911 call. RP at 177-78. When Sgt Parker arrived, Officer Skeie had already placed Miller in handcuffs. RP at 180. Miller told Sgt Parker that normally Robinson had permission to come to the house to visit her child, however, today he had specifically told her not to come over. RP at 182. Miller told Parker that because Robinson had a knife, he used the metal pipe to defend himself. RP at 187. When asked about saying, "Die, Bitch," Miller told Sgt Parker he might have said that. RP at 188.

Miller was charged with assaulting Robinson and with possessing a dangerous weapon. The case proceeded to trial. During motions in

limine, the State moved to exclude as irrelevant an email from Robinson to Miller that indicated Robinson was a drug user. RP at 15-16. Miller's attorney argued that the reason Miller had told Robinson not to come to his property was because Miller had heard Robinson was selling drugs for Scott Tuitt. RP at 16. Miller's attorney indicated that this evidence would come in both during his cross examination of Robinson and through Miller's testimony. RP at 22. After a lengthy discussion of the issue, the court ruled that testimony regarding Robinson's potential involvement with drugs was admissible so long as it was limited to the issue of Miller's belief. RP at 27. If the evidence was introduced for a reason beyond this purpose, then the court would rule on objections as they were raised. RP at 30.

During his cross examination of Robinson, Miller's attorney asked her if she had been with Scott Tuitt that morning. RP at 96. However, he did not ask her any questions related to the email, drug use, or a drug deal with Tuitt. RP at 77-105, 110-11. On direct examination, Miller testified that he had a gun on his person because Tuitt had come to his house. RP at 253-54. Miller's attorney chose not to ask Miller any questions regarding Robinson's involvement with drugs or a drug deal with Scott Tuitt. RP at 230-263, 274.

After hearing the evidence, the jury found Miller guilty as charged. RP at 358-59. Miller appealed, erroneously claiming, as he does in his petition for review, that the trial court granted the State's motion in limine to exclude evidence of Robinson's involvement with drugs. See Brief of Appellant at 13-14; Petition for Review at 11-12. The Court of Appeals corrected this error, explaining that the trial court did not exclude evidence, but simply ruled that evidence sought to be admitted must be shown to be relevant to the issues in the case. Court of Appeals Opinion, No. 44268-II at 4. Seemingly ignoring the fact that the evidence he sought to admit was never excluded, Miller again incorrectly claims that the trial court excluded evidence and seeks review of the Court of Appeals' opinion.

# IV. THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW OF THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Because Miller's petition foi's to demonstrate that any of the grounds listed under RAP 13.4(b) apply, his petition should be denied.

Under RAP 13.4(b) a petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or

- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

The only grounds Miller asserts in his petition is that the decision of the Court of Appeals raises a significant question of constitutional law under RAP 13.4(b)(3). Miller claims the trial court denied him due process by excluding evidence of self-defense. However, because the trial court did not exclude the evidence that Miller now incorrectly claims he was prevented from admitting, no constitutional right with regard to raising a claim of self-defense was implicated.

At trial, the State moved to exclude an email conversation between Miller and Robinson where she admitted to using drugs. RP at 15-16. Miller's attorney argued the reason Miller told Robinson not to come over was because he had heard Robinson was using and selling drugs for Scott Tuitt, and that Miller wanted to protect his child. RP at 16-17. The trial court found that this evidence was relevant and admissible to showing Miller's belief. RP at 27. While the court explained that evidence would be limited by its relevance to the issues in the case, it did not exclude any

evidence and stated it would rule on objections as they were raised. RP at 27, 30. During trial Miller's attorney elected not to present any evidence of Robinson's involvement with drugs. RP at 77-105, 110-11, 230-236, 274. Thus, despite the fact the trial court had held the evidence was admissible to show Miller's belief, he chose not to introduce it at trial.

The Court of Appeals found Miller's argument was "frivolous," noting that the trial court did not exclude evidence but simply ruled evidence was limited by relevance, as all evidence necessarily is under ER 402.<sup>3</sup> Court of Appeals Opinion, No. 44268-II at 4; ER 402. The Court of Appeals explained that the trial court did not preclude Miller from cross examining Robinson on her drug use or exclude Miller from testifying about his Robinson's involvement in doing or selling drugs. *Id.* at 4-5. Because the trial court did not exclude evidence that prevented Miller from presenting his defense, his argument fails. Thus, Miller's petition fails to provide grounds for review under RAP 13.4(b) and should be denied.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> With regard to irrelevant evidence LR 402 states: "Evidence which is not relevant is not admissible."

# v. conclusion

Because Miler's petition does not meet any of the considerations governing acceptance of review under RAP 13.4(b), it should be denied.